## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**AMY NICOLE WILLIAMS** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00599

MARCUS SHANE STOCKSTILL

APPELLEE

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF PEARL RIVER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The Chancellor used the wrong legal standard. Stockstill waived his right to an *Albright* analysis because of his delay in bringing this proceeding. Stockstill should have been required to prove a material change in circumstances adversely effecting the child, and then, if such change existed, that it was in the child's best interest for custody to be taken from Williams and placed with him.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## 1. Proceedings Below

On February 15, 2007, the Chancery Court of Pearl River County transferred custody of Madison Jean Stockstill (hereafter referred to as "Madison") from her mother, Amy Nicole Williams (hereafter referred to as "Nicole"), to her father, Marcus Shane Stockstill (hereafter referred to as "Shane"). Aggrieved by the lower court's ruling, Nicole perfected this appeal.

#### 2. Statement of the Facts

Marcus Shane Stockstill is the natural father of Madison Jean Stockstill who was born out of wedlock on July 3, 2003, as a result of his extra-marital affair with Amy Nicole Williams. Madison was conceived approximately one month after the birth of Shane and his wife, Tonya's twins. Shane and his wife, Tonya, separated in December of 2002, after Shane admitted to his wife that he had been having an affair with Nicole. A divorce action was filed, but the couple later reconciled after volatile separation and professional counseling. (Transcript p. 55). Shane was not present for Madison's birth nor did he contribute to any of the medical expenses of the minor child. At Nicole's request, Shane finally saw the child for the first time when she was three or four weeks old. (Transcript p. 40) Nicole met Shane at the welcome center off the interstate (transcript p. 41) so that his wife would not know that he was visiting Madison. (Transcript p. 53)

During the first two years of Madison's life, Shane was committed to saving his marriage with Tonya, and as a result only saw Madison a few times and only contributed about \$800 in total child support over the two years. (Transcript p. 52) During that same two years, Nicole,

was a single mother of two daughters, Baily (5) and Madison (2). Nicole was Madison's primary care giver and provided for her physically, emotionally and financially with little or no assistance from Shane. Nicole's mother and father assisted her in raising both of her daughters.

In April of 2005, when Madison was approaching her second birthday, Shane filed this action seeking to be adjudicated Madison's biological father and seeking visitation rights. By Order dated May 17, 2005, Nicole was awarded physical custody and Shane was awarded standard visitation with Madison and was ordered to pay \$150.00 per month in child support, as well as \$1,000.00 in back support. In June of 2005, Nicole was indicted on criminal charges and subsequently entered a plea bargain whereby she pleaded guilty to possession of a controlled substance and received three years house arrest and five years probation. In September following her indictment, Shane was granted leave of Court to amend his pleadings and on October 17, 2005, Shane filed his Supplemental and Amended Petition. In said Amended Petition, Shane plead and acknowledged that he had know for two years that Madison was his child because DNA testing was performed on September 10, 2003. Shane's Amended Petition further plead and acknowledged that since the child's birth on July 3, 2003, the child had lived and resided with Nicole. Nicole obtained counsel just before the trial was scheduled to take place and the matter was continued and the trial ultimately held on September 14, 2006, when the child was then three years old. Judgment was rendered February 1, 2007, transfering custody of Madison to Shane. Nicole feeling aggrieved, perfected this appeal.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Chancellor should have applied the "material change in circumstances which

adversely affects the child and subsequent best interest test", because at the time of trial, *de facto* custody had been vested in the mother for three years with only minimal involvement by the father, most of which occurred after the May 17, 2005, Order was entered whereby Nicole was given custody and Shane visitation and support obligations. The child was already two years old at that time. Therefore, Shane had waived his right to an *Albright* analysis because of his two year delay in bringing the custody proceeding, and upon doing so, he should have been held to a higher evidentiary standard.

In the alternative, even if the Chancellor's application of the *Albright* factors is correct (which Nicole contends was not), the decision is manifestly wrong based on the best interest of the child.

### **ARGUMENT**

Rather than apply the law as it relates to modification of custody based upon a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the child, the Court applied the *Albright* factors keeping score. The Court found, based on its analysis of the facts that Shane out scored Nicole and therefore should have custody of the minor child, Madison, with whom he had just begun establishing a comfortable relationship.

De facto and Court Ordered custody of Madison was with her mother, Nicole, for two years before Shane even sought <u>visitation</u> rights, and by Order dated May 17, 2005 the Court granted custody of Madison to Nicole. Shane cheated on his wife and fathered a child with Nicole. Because of the problems this created with his wife after she learned of the affair (transcript p. 54-55), Shane saw the child only two or three times during the first few years of

her life and contributed only minimal support.

The Court then took three-year-old Madison away from the only home she had ever known, and the mother who had cared for and provided for her since birth with almost no assistance or involvement from Shane, and sent her to live with a dad she hardly knew and a stepmother who has an undeniable animosity toward the child's mother. (Transcript p. 21). Shane testified that Madison was a sweet child with no special discipline or other problems that he had to confront because of the credible job Nicole had done raising her. (Transcript p. 54). Shane's sister's testimony also demonstrated that Nicole had done a good job raising Madison and that Shane's wife, Tonya, harbored animosity toward Shane's family, Nicole and the child. (Transcript p. 64).

Shane's wife, Tonya, was shown to have a violent temper. She gave Shane a black eye when she learned of his affair with Nicole. (Transcript p. 55). She keyed his truck during their separation. (Transcript p. 55) Both Shane and his sister testified that she did not allow Shane or their twins to see his family. (Transcript pp. 56, 63). When Shane was granted visitation pursuant to the initial Court Order, Tonya dictated Shane's exercise of visitation and his communication with Nicole. (Transcript p. 70). She caused disturbances at doctor's offices regarding who was responsible for Madison's expenses. (Transcript p. 58-59). The evidence was clear that Shane's wife, Tonya, was still uncomfortable with his illegitimate child and that she harbored deep animosity toward Nicole.

When a father acknowledges an illegitimate child as his own, Mississippi law places him on equal footing with the mother with regard to parental and custodial rights. <u>Smith v. Watson</u>,

425 So.2d 1030, 1033 (Miss. 1983) citing N. Hand, Jr., Mississippi Divorce, Alimony and Child Custody 271 (1981). The evidence in this case proves that although Shane knew Madison was his child weeks after her birth, he did not recognize her as his own until she was two years old. Compare how he recognized his twins, Seth and Sarah, to how he recognized Madison. He was at the hospital for Seth and Sarah's birth, but not for Madison's. (Transcript p. 51). He paid the birth expenses for Seth and Sarah, but not for Madison. (Transcript p. 51). He assisted with the daily care of Seth and Sarah during their first years, but not for Madison. (Transcript p. 20). He established an early bond with Seth and Sarah, but not with Madison. By his own admission he and his wife and their children were not comfortable enough with Madison to seek custody of her originally in April 2005. (Transcript p. 43) He didn't even invite Madison to his twins birthday party. (Transcript p. 70). Nicole however, did all these things for Madison that a parent is supposed to do for their child. She also tried to encourage a relationship between Shane and his daughter by asking him to come see her and meeting him in secret so his wife wouldn't find out that he was seeing the child. (Transcript p. 53). Nicole recognized Madison as her child, and demonstrated her dedication to raising her. Testimony from all the witnesses showed that Nicole had been a good mother to Madison when Shane couldn't be bothered.

It was not until Nicole got into trouble with the law that Shane decided to seek custody of Madison. He suddenly had an edge, something to point to which took the focus off of his unwillingness to accept Madison as he had his other children. It was finally convenient for him to pursue his relationship with Madison and even more convenient for him that Nicole now had legal difficulties which he could use against her. The Court should not allow Shane to lie-in-wait

for Nicole to make a mistake, and then assert his rights to the child after three years in which Nicole was the only parent the child knew. That is unfair and inequitable to mothers of illegitimate children. At what point will reluctant fathers like Shane be held to the higher standard of material change adversely effecting the child. Shane knew from the day Madison was born that she was his child, and he still elected to wait two years to acknowledge Madison. If these fathers are allowed to wait until the child is two years old, what will be the cut-off? Three, four, five years? What message is that sending? It sends the message that a father can sit around for the first few years of their child's life and do little of nothing for the child, but when he gets his life in order or decides he's "comfortable" being the child's father, or when mom makes a mistake that the Courts will frown upon, then he can strike while the timing is right to seek custody; nevermind that mom didn't get that option. She was forced into her obligation the day the child was born, and fathers should be held to the same expectations.

In <u>Smith v. Watson</u>, 425 So.2d 1030, 1035 (Miss. 1983) citing Bunkley & Morse's Amis on Divorce and Separation in Mississippi §8.04, the Court recognized:

"[t]hat where a parent, without just cause or excuse, forsakes or deserts his infant child for such a length of time, and under such circumstances, as to show an intent to shirk or evade the duty, trouble or expense of rearing it, or a callous indifference to its wants, or a reckless disregard for its welfare, he or she is guilty of such abandonment of it as to bar his or her right thereafter to reclaim its custody from any person who may have ministered to and protected it during such period of desertion."

Shane shirked the duty of rearing Madison for two years. Nicole, despite her difficult circumstances, embraced her duty to Madison and was doing a good job raising her daughter. The law should require that Shane to prove by a preponderance of the evidence he had

acknowledged this child as his own for the first two years of her life, and earned the right to be on equal footing with Nicole regarding custody. He knew when he originally filed this action that he was not entitled to custody, and he testified that he didn't feel comfortable enough to seek custody. (Transcript p. 43). For two years, Nicole did her best within her means, and raised a healthy, happy child without his involvement. The Court erred by placing Shane on the same footing with Nicole this late in the child's life.

All things being equal, all jurisdictions recognize that the mother of an illegitimate child, if the mother is a suitable person, has the primary right to custody. *H. Clark, Jr., Law of Domestic Relations 176 (1968); Annot., 98 A.L.R.2d 417 (1972).* At the time of the trial in this matter, Nicole had been sentenced on her criminal charges to three year house arrest and five years probation. She was residing with her parents in a home large enough for she and her two daughters to be comfortable. (Transcript p. 66). She had been working a steady job, Monday through Friday, for her employer selling merchandise on Ebay. (Transcript p. 67). And despite what the Chancellor perceived as her "poor judgment", her criminal charges had in no way effected either of her two children, and she was still at home and able to provide for their needs. Madison's best interest would be served by remaining in the home she had always known with her mother and her sister and her grandparents, and gradually building the relationship with her father and his family who were still adjusting to and learning to accept her.

The totality of circumstances should be considered <u>Tucker v. Tucker</u>, 453 So. 2d 1294 (Miss. 1984). In the case at bar, the Court found "the polestar consideration in arriving at the award of custody of a minor child, is the *best interest and welfare of the child*." (Memorandum

Opinion p. 2). Just because someone gets in trouble with the law, does not mean that they cannot accept responsibility, go forward and lead a productive life, and continue caring for their children appropriately. Nicole asserts that the Chancellor failed to acknowledge Shane's failures and shortcomings, and placed unwarranted emphasis on the fact that he is married and more financially stable. The Chancellor found Shane to be the parent with the most emotional ties with the child, when clearly the evidence shows that Nicole was the parent who raised the child all her life, and Shane himself testified that he had to get comfortable with Madison before he even considered requesting custody. (Transcript p. 43). The Chancellor's findings in this regard are clearly erroneous.

In <u>McCracking v. McCracking</u>, 776 So.2d 691, 694 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000), the Court held that the non-custodial parent must do more than convince the Chancellor that they could do a better job with the child when the prior custody arrangement had previously been agreed upon by the parents. For two years following Madison's birth, Nicole had full custody with no objections, interference or assistance from Shane. Therefore, he should have been required to prove circumstances that were detrimental to Madison's best interest in order for custody to be taken away from Nicole.

The Court did not mention Nicole's other child, Baily, age five (5). Madison has grown up and been cared for in Nicole's home her entire life. The Court's ruling in this case splits the custody of Madison away from the big sister to whom she has a very strong attachment. How can it be in the best interest of Madison to disenthrall her from the home she has known her entire life, from her mother who has been her primary care giver, and from her sister? The

Court's lack of factual finding in this regard is clearly an abuse of its discretion. Absent unusual and compelling circumstances dictating otherwise it is not in the best interest of children to be separated. *Sparkman v. Sparkman*, 441 So. 2d 1361 (Miss. 1983).

There is no basis for any present finding that Nicole can not and will not provide Madison with the proper parenting required to retain her custody. The Court characterizes Nicole's environment as unstable and recognizes Shane's family life and employment as an advantage for him. Again this is an unfair advantage to a father who had previously not shown a great interest in being in his child's life. Shane was allowed to ignore his responsibilities to Madison for the first two years of her life, while he repaired his marriage after his affair and continued to build his business. He works long hours and usually seven days a week according to his wife. (Transcript p. 20). Had he initiated the custody suit at the time Madison was born, he would not have appeared as moral and stable as the Chancellor seemed to perceive at the time of trial. Following his extramarital affair, he changed his residence five times; he had physical and verbal altercations with his wife. Who knows what else was going on at that time. He was not required to deal with this custody issue then. He was allowed to get his life together before submitting himself to the Court. Nicole didn't have that luxury.

To use this as a basis to change custody is totally inappropriate. Nicole's overall circumstances at the time of trial had improved in that she was employed at regular eight to five job; she and her parents were settled in their new home following Katrina; she is at home regularly and available to personally care for both her daughters; and she was cooperating with and encouraging Shane to develop a relationship with his daughter.

The Chancellor ignored the turmoil in Shane's own family. His wife was resentful and vindictive because of the affair. Shane and Tonya did not treat Madison the same as they treated their own two children. Shane's own family had been cut out of their lives and were not allowed to see Seth and Sarah. (Transcript p. 63). This speaks volumes about the true stability of Shane's family life. Shane's sister testified that Nicole had been the one to involve she and Shane's parents in Madison's life. (Transcript p. 63-64). His sister also testified that she had witnessed Madison having to sit in the back of Shane's store alone while he worked (transcript p. 64), and that Shane told her it was because Tonya didn't feel well. Why then would he not have all three children? Seth and Sarah were with Tonya, but she didn't feel like caring for Madison. (Transcript p. 64). Shane himself admitted that the only time Seth and Sarah came to the store with him was if he had Madison. (Transcript p. 46). The Chancellor's decision to take custody from Nicole is manifestly wrong and contrary to the evidence regarding this child's best interest.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For many years the law gave mother's an unfair advantage in custody matters by applying the tender years doctrine. This case sets the stage to turn the tables and give fathers of illegitimate children an unfair advantage. The two legal standards in child custody cases, being the *Albright* factors and the *adverse material change* test, do not promote the best interest of the children in these type cases. Without a prior adjudication of custody, Chancellors are compelled to apply the *Albright* factors. As in this case, that application gives the fathers of illegitimate children the unfair advantage of shopping or waiting for a better time or more

favorable circumstances to bring a custody action. Just as our system works to prevent forum shopping or Judge shopping, this Court should be compelled to prevent this manipulation of the system.

The purpose of our custody standards is to promote the best interest of our state's children by requiring parents to put aside their own interests and bear the responsibility that bringing a child into the world carries with it. By allowing fathers of illegitimate children to shirk those responsibilities for two years leaving the mother to bear the full burden, and then to come forward during the mother's hard times and seek and evaluation of current circumstances does not promote responsible parenting. This Court cannot validate fathers who delay years after the child's birth before taking on the responsibility by placing them on equal footing with the mothers who have been raising them since day one.

Fathers like Shane, who are aware that they have an illegitimate child, should be held to a higher standard. They should have to prove 1) that they have acknowledged the child as their own and demonstrated some level of responsibility toward parenthood; 2) that recent material changes in the circumstances of the custodial mother are adversely effecting the child; and 3) that it is in the child's best interest that *de facto* custody be modified and the child now placed in their custody. This Court previously recognized the need for a different standard. In *Romans v. Fulgum*, 939 So.2d 849, 853 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), denied a father, who was seeking to take custody from the grandparents, the right to do so because of his delay in bringing the proceeding. The Court found him to have waived his entitlement to an *Albright* analysis. Shane should likewise be barred from an *Albright* analysis and further be required to demonstrate some

responsibility toward Madison's rearing before he is placed on equal footing with Nicole.

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