IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00599

AMY NICOLE WILLIAMS

RESPONDENT/APPELLANT

v.

MARCUS SHANE STOCKSTILL

PETITIONER/APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF PEARL RIVER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Civil Action File No. 05-0229 GN-D

BRIEF OF APPELLEE MARCUS SHANE STOCKSTILL

OF COUNSEL:
RICHARD C. FITZPATRICK, MBN
P.O. Box 546
Poplarville, MS 39470
(601) 795 2206
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00599

AMY NICOLE WILLIAMS

RESPONDENT/APPELLANT

٧.

MARCUS SHANE STOCKSTILL

PETITIONER/APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF PEARL RIVER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Civil Action File No. 05-0229 GN-D

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancellor clearly followed controlling case law in basing his decision to grant
Shane Stockstill primary physical custody of MJWS on a full consideration of the *Albright*factors as applicable on an initial custody determination. He applied the correct standard in
putting Shane on equal footing with Amy Nicole because although MJWS is Shane's illegitimate
daughter, Shane has acknowledged his paternity. There was no prior adjudication of initial
custody which is a prerequisite for applying the standard for modification of custody. His
analysis of the *Albright* factors and his determination that those factors tip the balance in favor of
granting Shane paramount physical custody with both parents sharing legal custody and Amy
Nicole having liberal visitation is supported by substantial credible evidence in the record and is
not manifestly erroneous.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review in child custody cases is a limited one. An appellate court will reverse a Chancellor's decision only if his decision is manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or he applied an erroneous legal standard. *In re Custody of M.A.G.*, 859 So.2d 1001, 1004 (P8) (Miss. 2003). The Chancellor is the sole judge of the credibility and weight of the witnesses and the evidence. *Mabus v. Mabus*, 890 So. 2d 806, ¶ 38 (Miss. 2003).

B. The Albright Factors Were Properly Applied to This Initial Custody Determination

The Chancellor's February 1, 2007 decision was an initial custody determination in which the polestar consideration of the best interests of the child was properly determined by applying the Albright factors starting with the two parents of this illegitimate child on a equal footing. It

would have been contrary to the law of this state to hold Shane to the higher standard of a material change in circumstances as argued by Amy Nicole. The arguments she makes in regard to what the applicable law should be were rejected in *Romans v. Fulgham*, 939 So. 2d 849 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)⁴ as inconsistent with the decisions of our appellate courts and the law of our state.

Upon acknowledging paternity, the father of an illegitimate child stands on equal footing with the mother in regards to matters of parental and custodial rights. *Smith v. Watson*, 425 So. 2d 1030, 1033 (Miss. 1983)⁵; *Law v. Page*, 618 So. 2d 96, 101 (Miss. 1993). It is undisputed that by filing this action in April of 2005 to legally establish his paternity, Shane formally acknowledged his paternity of MJWS. *Crosby v. Triplett*, 195 So. 2d 69 (Miss. 1967)

⁴Appellants description of *Romans v. Fulgham* in the Conclusion of her brief on p. 11 is completely at odds with that decision. It even involves a father seeking to obtain custody from a grandfather. It holds:

In May of 1997, William Ryan Fulgham was adjudicated the natural father of A.F., a child born out of wedlock to Lisa Godin Romans on November 28, 1996. ... In September 2004, Ryan filed a petition in the Chancery Court of Lafayette County seeking primary physical custody of A.F. After a bench trial, the chancellor awarded Ryan primary physical custody of A.F., and awarded joint legal custody to both parents. ... On appeal, Lisa claims that the chancellor erred in treating the dispute as an initial custody determination, rather than as a custody modification proceeding; in the alternative, she claims that the chancellor erred in his application of the Albright factors. Finding that the chancellor appropriately treated the dispute as an initial custody determination, and that the chancellor's ruling was supported by substantial, credible evidence, we affirm the ruling of the chancery court. ... We maintain the appropriate standard is one of an initial custody proceeding utilizing an Albright analysis in order to determine the best interest of the child.

⁵In *Smith* the court ultimately found the father lost this equal footing by abandoning his daughter in her early years. He saw the child twice in her first year of life and his family provided some babysitting in the first eight months. From her second through her seventh year of life, the father never saw his daughter and contributed absolutely nothing to her support. This clearly constitutes abandonment, but it is not at all similar to the facts of the present case. 425 So.2d at 1034-1035.

establishes that a father may also acknowledge paternity in less formal ways such as by visiting a child, making statements to others recognizing the child as his daughter, by his words and acts showing his love for the child and his belief that the child is his daughter. *Crosby* discussion of acknowledgment and its reasoning shows that in the context of paternity, Mississippi law follows the definition of acknowledgment found in *Black's Law Dictionary*:

[r]ecognition of a paternal relation, either by a written agreement, verbal declarations or statements, by the life, acts, and conduct of the parties, or any other satisfactory evidence that the relation was recognized and admitted.

Black's Law Dictionary (6th ed.) p. 23.

Even taking the evidence as provided by Amy Nicole, Shane clearly engaged in words, acts and conduct from the first year of MJWS's life which recognized and admitted his paternal relationship to MJWS. She testified in that first year, prior to Father's Day of 2004, she and Shane had reached an agreement on visitation under which Shane was "getting her every Tuesday and Wednesday or Wednesday and Thursday" until he missed three weeks and she denied him visitation on Father's day of 2004. (T. at 69; AERE-69). Shane's recognition of the paternal relation is implicit in both their agreement that MJWS would spend every Tuesday and Wednesday or Wednesday and Thursday with Shane and that Shane asked to have her on Father's Day. His request for visitation on Father's Day is clearly an acknowledgment of the paternal relation.

But Amy Nicole's testimony concerning Shane's acknowledgment prior to filing this action does not stand alone. There is testimony that he told his wife Tonya that he was MJWS' father. (T. 23, 24; AERE-40, 41). There was also testimony about Shane making verbal statements that MJWS was his daughter and he wanted to continue seeing her when Amy Nicole

told him upon learning that he was reconciling with his wife that he could no longer see MJWS. (T. 54; AERE-64) There was also testimony that Amy came to the store where he was working in Pearl River during his separation from his wife and he gave her a \$500 check for financial assistance in supporting his daughter. (T. 42; AERE-52) When added to Shane's own testimony concerning his efforts to have visitation with his daughter and concerning the support which was asked for and which he provided prior to filing these proceedings, along with the testimony of all the witnesses as a whole in which everyone testified on the basis that Shane is MJWS's father, it is clear that he has acknowledged her at least since the September 2003 blood tests established his paternity. (See entire Transcript)

It is undisputed that there was no formal custody determination prior to the institution of these proceedings. (R. 4-8, 18-24, 32-38, 41) It is also clear from the original Complaint's request for a hearing on temporary custody, visitation and support and the order of May 16, 2005 which set an August 18, 2005 trial date for the matter, appointed Dr. Galloway as a specialist, and contains no mention of the Albright factors or any analysis of those factors that the custody, support and visitation provisions of that order were in the nature of a temporary order pending a full initial custody, visitation, and support determination after trial on the merits. (R. 7 at ¶ 13, 18-23; RE 4-9) Law v. Page, 618 So. 2d 96, 101 (Miss. 1993) makes it clear that in such circumstances, the Albright factors are to be applied in the same manner as they are in an initial custody determination upon divorce. Law v. Page specifically rejected the argument that the "material change in circumstances" standard should apply holding that the "material changes" standard used in modification proceedings is dependent on there being a prior determination of custody." Id.

Romans v. Fulgham rejected the arguments made by Amy Nicole on facts which would be more likely to support the argument, if valid, than the facts of the present case. The child was born in November of 1996 and lived with the mother until the Chancery Court awarded the father physical custody sometime after September of 2004. The parents never lived together. In May of 1997, the Department of Human Services obtained a paternity judgment and a \$100 a month child support order against the father. The father took no action to obtain physical custody until the child was 2 months shy of his 8th birthday when the father sought primary physical custody. After a bench trial, the chancellor entered a final order granting the father primary physical custody with the parents sharing joint legal custody. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Chancellor's grant of primary physical custody to the father. Id at 851.

The *Romans* majority held that its decision was required by the prior decisions of *Law v. Page*, supra, *S.B. v. L.W.*, 793 So.2d 656 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) and *C.W.L. v. R.A.*, 919 So.2d 267 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In *Law v. Page*, as in this case, the parents were never married. Sometime after a paternity test established he was the father, the father brought a paternity action when the child was a little less than a year old. After a trial nearly six months later, the Chancellor awarded custody to the father. On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court sent the matter back for "further inquiry" when the child was two years and three months old because the Chancellor had based his decision in part on matter occurring before the child's birth. The second trial occurred when the child was almost three years old. The Chancellor again applied the full initial Albright factors and based on the evidence at that time again found that the best interest of the child favored the father having primary custody. When the child was some four and a half years old, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed finding that at that time the proper

standard to apply was still the full initial *Albright* factors as there had not been a prior full and final initial judicial determination of initial permanent custody based on a full analysis of the child's best interests through a full *Albright* analysis.

In S.B. v. L.W., the parents were never married. The mother moved out of the house she shared with the father while she was still pregnant with the child. Although the opinion mentions few specific dates, it is clear that the child was more than six when the father filed the action in which the Chancellor awarded him custody of his daughter as there was discussion of school arrangements. The father did not take legal action seeking custody until the mother indicated an intent to move from Lafayette County to the Gulf Coast even though the father was aware of the mother exposing the child to her bisexual orientation, lesbian lifestyle and her intimate relationship with another woman. Both the Chancellor and the Court of Appeals rejected the mother's argument that the modification of custody standard should be applied, finding instead that Law v. Page required the initial application of the Albright factors because there had been no prior judicial initial determination of custody based on a full consideration of the Albright factors. Both the Chancellor and the Court of Appeals also found that the analysis must start with the father on an equal footing with the mother under Smith v. Watson, 425 So. 2d 1030 (Miss. 1983) because the father acknowledged his paternity of the child.

In C.W.L. v. R.A., the child was the product of an extramarital affair. When the child was approximately a year old, the mother filed a paternity action against the natural father with the assistance of the Department of Human Services. That action resulted in an adjudication of paternity and an award of child support against the father. The order also granted the father visitation. Over the years, the mother took the child with her when she moved to Florida with

her new husband and then brought the child back to Mississippi. When she moved again to Texas and took the child with her, the father filed a petition in May of 2002 styled "Complaint for Modification of Custody and Temporary Restraining Order" seeking physical custody of the child. The opinion does not state how old the child was at that point, but it is clear she was at least past the age for kindergarten and was attending school. The opinion states the Chancellor entered several orders before a full trial was held in July of 2003 when the Chancellor awarded physical custody to the father with liberal visitation for the mother applying the full *Albright* factors.

On appeal, the mother argued the Chancellor should have applied the modification standard for changing custody because the paternity action granted her de facto custody. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument pointing out that Law v. Page required a full application of the Albright factors as this was an initial custody determination since there had been no prior formal judicial determination of permanent custody applying the Albright factors. Id at ¶¶ 9–11. The court found the limited standard of review with deference to the Chancellor as the sole judge of the weight and credibility of the evidence applied and that the Chancellor had discussed the Albright factors and documented the basis for his findings. Id at ¶¶ 18-20. The Court also rejected arguments by the mother that the Chancellor should have considered the child's relationship with her half-brother and not separated them. The Court pointed out "there is no general rule in this state that the best interest of siblings is served by keeping them together" citing Sellers v. Sellers, 638 So. 2d 481, 484 (Miss. 1993) and Sparkman v. Sparkman, 441 So.

2d 1361, 1362 (Miss. 1983)) Id at ¶ 21.6

The Court of Appeals found all of these cases applicable and controlling in *Romans v.*Fulgham where the father waited until the child was almost eight years old to seek physical custody despite an adjudication of paternity and child support when the child was only about six months old. The Romans court pointed out that the lack of the passage of time was not a factor in any of these decisions in deciding that the matter was an initial custody determination to which the full Albright analysis applied. In short, the Law decision clearly held that there is no such thing as de facto custody for purposes of deciding whether the court should apply the full Albright factors or the modification standard. It is the child's interests which are paramount and the child is entitled to one full and final initial judicial determination of custody applying the full Albright factors.

Even the dissent in *Romans v. Fulgham* acknowledged that *Law v. Page* holds that where there has been no prior judicial determination of initial permanent custody, "an original *Albright* analysis should be applied" rather than the modification of custody standard. *Id* at 856-857.

Moreover, the dissent in *Romans* also recognized that there was no basis for distinguishing *Romans* from *C.W.L. v. R.A.* It follows there is no basis for distinguishing the present case from either *C.W.L.* or *Romans*. Amy Nicole discusses none of this relevant and controlling authority in

⁶Amy Nicole claims that the Chancellor did not even mention her older half sibling in Amy Nicole's household. The is not accurate. On page 4 of the opinion (R. 74; RE 14), the Chancellor noted that Amy Nicole is both unmarried and the mother of another child. Thus, he clearly recognized that MJWS had an older half-sibling in Amy Nicole's household. However, MJWS also has twin half siblings very close to her own age in Shane's household and there was abundant evidence establishing that she has developed a very strong bond with them. (Exhibits 7 & 8; T. 31-32, 44; AERE-16-21, 45-46, 55) Thus, there was reason for the Chancellor not to accord any extra weight to Amy Nicole on the basis of having a half sister in Amy Nicole's household.

her brief although the one inaccurate citation to *Romans* indicates an awareness of the existence of *Romans* and the case law cited in *Romans* when the brief was written.

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